2007

Leigh Young aka Hardy v. Fire Insurance Exchange : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated. This appeal is subject to assignment and has been transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals, pursuant to Section 78-2-2(4), Utah Code Annotated. (Rec. 1298 & 1303).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. **Issue:** Did the trial court err in dismissing Plaintiff's bad faith claim on summary judgment, when there were issues of fact present?

Standard of Review: Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. All facts and inferences are to be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, with no deference given to the trial court. *State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Green*, 89 P.3d 97 (Utah 2003).

Preservation for Review: This was raised in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (Rec. 509-593) and was ruled on by the trial court. (Minute Entry, Rec. 935-941; Order Rec. 944-945).

2. **Issue:** Did the trial court err in refusing to allow Plaintiff's expert to testify when he was properly designated and scheduled to testify at trial?

Standard of Review: A trial court's decision to disallow expert testimony based on evidentiary grounds is generally reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Turner v. Nelson*, 872 P.2d 1021 (Utah 1994). However, in this case the testimony was excluded as a matter of law; and therefore should be reviewed under the correctness standard. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000).

Preservation for Review: The trial court knew Plaintiff's expert was scheduled to testify on Thursday at noon, as part of Plaintiff's case in chief (Rec. 1305, Trial Trans. pgs. 178-179, 252-254) but granted Defendants' Motion for a Directed Verdict Thursday morning, before Plaintiff's expert could testify. (Rec. 1195-1210).

3. **Issue:** Did the Plaintiff, as the insured, have the burden to prove that the fire in her home was "accidental" as part of her *prima facie* case, to seek recovery under her fire insurance Policy?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000); *State v. Leyva*, 951 P.2d 738 (Utah 1997).

Preservation for Review: This issue was preserved for review when the trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict based on Plaintiff's alleged failure to establish her *prima facie* case. (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

4. **Issue:** Does the fact that Plaintiff had a fire insurance Policy in effect on her home, with the premiums paid, and that she was entitled to payment under the Policy for her fire loss, as stipulated to by the Insurance Company at trial, and ruled by the court as an admitted fact; sufficiently establish a *prima facie* case for the Plaintiff, to shift the burden of proving arson to the Insurance Company?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000); *State v. Leyva*, 951 P.2d 738 (Utah 1997).

Preservation for Review: Plaintiff began to put on evidence regarding these matters (Rec. 1304, pg 21-23) when the Insurance Company stipulated to these facts and the court ruled that the same was an admitted fact. (Rec. 1304, pg. 23) The court subsequently granted Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict due to Plaintiff's alleged failure to establish her *prima facie* case. (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

5. **Issue:** Is expert testimony necessary for an insured to present an issue of fact for the jury, as to whether a fire was intentionally set or accidental; or whether the insured had any involvement in starting or arranging the fire?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000).

Preservation for Review: The trial court granted Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict based on Plaintiff's failure to put on expert testimony that the fire was "accidental." (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

6. **Issue:** Even if Plaintiff's expert was only designated as a rebuttal witness, did the trial court err in refusing to allow him to testify, when the Insurance Company, before moving for directed verdict, elected to proceed with its own evidence and called its fire expert to put on evidence in support of its affirmative defense of arson?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000).

Preservation for Review: The trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict after Defendant's fire expert was allowed to testify regarding the cause of the fire and Plaintiff's possible involvement, but did not allow Plaintiff's expert to testify in rebuttal. (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

7. **Issue:** Did the Insurance Company waive its right for a directed verdict based solely on Plaintiff's alleged case in chief, when before moving for directed verdict, it elected to proceed with its own witnesses at trial, and elected to put on evidence of its affirmative defense of arson?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000); *State v. Leyva*, 951 P.2d 738 (Utah 1997).

Preservation for Review: This issue was preserved for review when the trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict before the close of Plaintiff's evidence, but after the Defendant had proceeded to put on its own evidence regarding the cause of the fire, with its fire expert, and Plaintiff's possible motive for setting the fire, with a health inspector and insurance investigator. (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

8. **Issue:** Was there any evidence introduced in this case, before the Motion for Directed Verdict was made, to raise an issue of fact for the jury to decide, precluding the entry of a directed verdict, including the cause of the fire and/or Plaintiff's involvement in the start of the fire?

Standard of Review: In reviewing a trial court's order granting a directed verdict, the appellate court examines whether any evidence was introduced at trial to raise an issue of fact for the jury. *Alta Health Strategies, Inc. v. CCI Mechanical Service*, 930 P.2d 280 (Ut.App.1996) *cert. denied*. All evidence and inferences are to be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. The standard of review on a directed verdict is the same as that imposed on the trial court. It is reviewed as a matter of law for

correctness. *Mahmood v. Ross*, 990 P.2d 933 (Utah 1999).

Preservation for Review: This issue was preserved for review when the trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict after evidence was presented to the jury regarding the cause of the fire, as well as, Plaintiff's possible motives for setting the fire, and involvement in the start of the fire. (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

9. **Issue:** Did the trial court err in allowing the Insurance Company to move for a directed verdict, and granting a directed verdict, before the close of Plaintiff's evidence, knowing that Plaintiff's expert was to testify later that day?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000); *State v. Leyva*, 951 P.2d 738 (Utah 1997).

Preservation for Review: This issue was preserved for review when the trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict before the close of Plaintiff's evidence, knowing that Plaintiff's expert was scheduled to testify later that day. (Rec. 1195-1201; Rec. 1209-1210).

10. **Issue:** Did the trial court err in dismissing a jury trial pursuant to Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

Standard of Review: A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000).

Preservation for Review: This issue was preserved for review when the trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict based on Rule 41(b). (Rec. 1201).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Proceedings:

The Plaintiff/Appellant, Leigh Young aka Hardy (“Leigh”) suffered from a fire in her home in Sandy, Utah, which started at approximately 6:45 a.m., the morning of July 26, 2001, when no one was home. Leigh had a fire insurance policy, which was in effect at the time, with the Defendant/Appellee, Farmers Insurance Exchange (“Insurance Company”). Leigh submitted claims to her Insurance Company for living expenses which the Insurance Company paid. Claims were also submitted regarding damage to her home and personal property, however, six months after the fire, in January 2002, the Insurance Company sent a letter denying these claims, claiming arson, under the Policy’s Intentional Act Exclusion. (See January 2002 letter, Trial Ex. 16).

Leigh filed this action on July 21, 2004, (Rec. 1-6) alleging bad faith on the part of the Insurance Company and breach of contract on the insurance Policy, for the Insurance Company’s refusal to fully investigate or pay the claims. Leigh obtain a fire expert, Mr. Fred King from Delta, Colorado, who was timely designated as an expert witness. (Rec. 58-59) Mr. King was of the opinion that the earlier investigation of the fire

failed to properly eliminate any and all accidental sources for the fire. Mr. King opined that the fire was a flashover fire, and could have been caused by a number of accidental sources, which were not eliminated as a possibility, including a “classic mattress fire.” (King Expert Report, Rec. 63-73). Mr. King was designated as an expert, his expert report was timely filed, and his deposition was taken.(Rec. 166-167). After Mr. King was designated as an expert and filed his report, the Defendant designated Mr. Jay Freeman, as a fire expert. (Rec. 154-165).

Depositions were taken and affidavits obtained by both parties; and on March 14, 2006, Defendant filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, seeking to dismiss Plaintiff’s bad faith claim. (Rec. 173-175) On March 15, 2006, Plaintiff also filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on her breach of contract claim. (Rec. 419-421) This was accompanied with the Affidavit of Leigh Young, explaining her activities at the time of the fire (Rec. 442-447) and the fact that she did not set the fire, or arrange to have the fire set. (Rec. 447). Leigh argued that she was entitled to judgment as a matter of law, based on the undisputed fact that the Policy was in effect at the time of the fire, and there was no evidence that she had set the fire, but mere speculation. (Rec.422-508). The Insurance Company in their Motion for Summary Judgment claimed that there were issues of fact sufficient to refuse payment under the Policy, and that the court should

dismiss the bad faith claim as a matter of law. (Rec. 176-418). The Insurance Company never claimed that Leigh had not met her *prima facie* case, or that the fire did not fall under the terms of the Policy, rather the Insurance Company asserted its affirmative defense of arson and that it had a “fairly debatable” defense to not pay the claims. (Rec. 176-206).

On August 7, 2006, the court issued its ruling on the cross-motions for summary judgment, ruling that there were issues of fact to preclude Leigh’s Motion for Summary Judgment, but that the Insurance Company was entitled to have the bad faith claim dismissed as a matter of law, based on the presences of these factual issues. (Rec. 935-940). The court further ruled that for the Insurance Company to establish its *prima facie* case of arson to deny coverage under the insurance policy, it had to show (1) that the fire was incendiary in nature, (2) the insured had a financial motive for setting the fire, and (3) unexplained surrounding circumstantial evidence implicating the suspect, citing *Lawson v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 585 P.2d 318 (Colo.App. 1978). (Rec. 939). The court then went on to find factual issues regarding these elements. (Rec. 936-939).

The matter was set for an eight day jury trial to commence Tuesday November 28th 2006 and conclude December 7th 2006. (Rec. 950-953). The parties made pretrial disclosures of witnesses and exhibits. Leigh designated Fred King as her fire

expert in her pre-trial disclosures. (Rec. 995). Counsel for the parties discussed the timing of witnesses that they planned to call and prepared a stipulation for the entry of certain exhibits, in order to facilitate time at trial. These exhibits, which were later admitted into evidence, included: the Insurance Policy, the Proof of Loss Claims with attached inventories, the January 2002 denial letter from the Insurance Company, the Written Statement from Steve Johnson, and Pictures of the fire scene. (Rec.1150-1151).

Counsel for the parties also submitted stipulated jury instructions regarding the remaining breach of contract claim and the Insurance Company's defenses, including a jury instruction that the Insurance Company has the burden to prove arson by a preponderance of the evidence. This instruction was stipulated to by the parties. There was no dispute to the fact that the fire was a covered catastrophe under the Insurance Policy. There were no instructions prepared addressing the issue of coverage or that it is the Plaintiff's burden to show the fire was accidental to obtain coverage. The issue for trial was whether or not there was arson by the Insured to prohibit recovery under the Intentional Act Exclusion of the Policy

Trial commenced on Tuesday November 28th and opening statements were made. Again there was no argument of the fact that the fire was a catastrophe covered under the Policy, that the fire occurred in Leigh's home, and that the Policy was in effect

at the time of the fire. The issue, according to the Insurance Company, was whether or not the fire was intentionally set by Leigh. (Rec. 1304, Trans. pg. 9).

After opening statements, Leigh testified similar to the statements made in her affidavit for summary judgment, (when the court previously found issues of fact for the jury) that she had owned the home at 9950 Marble Street since November, 1983, (Rec. 1304, pg.17), that in her divorce the home was quit-claimed to her (Rec. 1304, pg. 20, Trial Ex.2), that the mortgage payments on the home were current at the time of the fire, that there were no balloon or large payments due at the end of the mortgage (Rec. 1304, pg. 22, Trial Ex. 3), that the Plaintiff had obtained fire insurance on her home from the Defendant, Insurance Company, (Rec. 1304, pg. 22-23), and that the premiums for the Policy were paid and were current at the time of the fire, (Rec. 1304, pg. 23). In fact, it was admitted by Defendant at trial, that the Policy was in effect at the time of the fire, and that all the terms and conditions of the Policy, as far as Plaintiff's entitlement to payment under the Policy, were met. This was an admitted fact by stipulation and by the court's ruling. (Rec. 1304, pg. 23).

Leigh further testified that the last time she was in the home before the fire occurred (on the morning of July 26, 2001) was late at night on July 24, 2001, and she did not notice anything unusual in the home. (Rec. 1304, pg. 25). She testified that she then

left and stayed that night at the Travel Lodge in Salt Lake City, with her husband Doug Young. They had done this before in the past. Doug's brother worked at the hotel, and would give them a discount. (Rec. 1304, pg. 26-27). Leigh also testified as to the appliances and furniture, which were in the room where the fire started. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 29-32) She testified about the repairs that were currently being made to the home. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 34-35). Leigh further testified that she did not start the fire and that she did not know of the fire until she was called at the Travel Lodge by her son's girlfriend, Kelly, at approximately 8:30 or 9:00 that morning. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 35-36). Leigh testified that she was surprised by the fire. Her Insurance Company was contacted, and a representative arrived that night. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 34-35). Leigh testified that she did not know how the fire started and asked the insurance representative "how the fire started?" but received no response. (Rec. 1304, pg. 38).

Leigh further testified to the damage from the fire, both to her personal property and her home; and that after the fire she was overwhelmed so she hired Adjustors International, a professional adjusting company, to inventory her personal property, prepare an estimate for the damage to her home, and to deal with the Insurance Company in submitting the necessary forms for her loss, which Adjustors International did. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 41-43). Leigh also testified that she rented a home and that the

Insurance Company began paying living expenses under the Policy (Rec. 1304, pgs. 49-51), and never claimed that she was not entitled to payment under the Policy or that the fire was not a covered catastrophe under the Policy. However, six months later, in January of 2002, the Insurance Company sent a letter denying any further payment based on the Intentional Act Exclusion of the Policy, claiming that she intentionally set the fire or arranged for the fire. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 51-52; January 2002 letter, Trial Ex. 16).

At trial the court constantly cut off Leigh's testimony and would not let her fully answer the questions she was asked. The court did not allow her to testify about how she felt about the fire, although her state of mind was a relevant issue in the case as to any possible motive she may have had to set the fire. (Rec. 1304, pg. 37). Leigh also testified as to her financial condition; that she continued to make the house payments after the fire until July of 2003, when she finally sold the home in its burned condition. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 52-53) Leigh also presented a video of the room where the fire started and testified about an outlet in the room where the wires had melted together. (Rec. 1304, pg. 56). The court would not let her testify as to many items, including her emotional state and her feelings about the fire, and the loss of her personal belongings, although the court had previously ruled such issues were factors for the jury to decide. (Rec. 939).

Vaughn Bradley of Century Builders testified regarding the estimate he prepared to repair the dwelling after the fire. He testified that the bid he prepared was accurate and reasonable.(Rec. 1304, Pgs. 85-90) His repair was admitted into evidence. (Rec. 1304, pgs. 85-90, Trial Ex. 10). The court also rushed Mr. Bradley through his testimony.

After Mr. Bradley the Plaintiff did not have any more witnesses ready to call, so the Defendant, without objection or making any motion to dismiss or for directed verdict, began calling its own witnesses in support its affirmative defense of arson, i.e., that the fire was intentionally set. Defendant first called Mr. Bebee an investigator for the Insurance Company who testified that the fire seemed to be intentional (Rec. 1304, pg. 101), because the Plaintiff was not in her home at the time of the fire and the fire was discovered by several neighbors who were leaving for work the morning of July 26, 2001, at 6:45 a.m. (Rec. 1304, pg. 101). Mr. Bebee also testified about the background check he did on Leigh, including court records, and her financial situation; putting on evidence of a possible financial motive for the fire. (Rec. 1304, pg. 102) Mr. Bebee also testified about two conversations he allegedly had with Leigh regarding the last time she was at the house, claiming that she told him that she was there the night of the fire, July 25th rather than July 24th (Rec. 1304, pg. 104); thus creating issues of fact regarding Leigh's

involvement in the start of the fire.

On the next morning of trial, Nathaniel Cook of Adjusters International testified as to the procedures he used to inventory and value the personal property and in preparing the Proof of Loss Claims for the personal property and for the dwelling. The Proof of Loss Claims and attached inventories, were admitted into evidence. (Trial Exhs. 10-12). The judge also cut Mr. Cook short on his testimony and would not allow questions about the individual items of inventory. (Rec. 1305, pgs. 108-135).

Tim's friend, Brandon Yates, testified next. He testified that he was at the house the night of the fire with a group of friends. They had "nowhere else to go to smoke and drink," and they knew that Leigh was not home, so they went to the house. (Rec. 1305, pg. 137). They were drinking alcohol, smoking and playing video games. There were two mattresses in the room one on the floor and one on the bed. (Rec. 1305, pg. 137). They moved the TV on to a wood table that was in the middle of the room. (Rec. 1305, pg. 137). Not only were the boys smoking on the mattresses, but they also lit candles at various places through out the room (Rec. 1305, pg. 137). No one from the fire department or the Insurance Company contacted or talked to Brandon Yates, about being in the room that night. (Rec. 1305, pg. 141). Brandon testified that they were drunk that night and that he was the first person to leave, but he didn't check to see if all the

candles were out. (Rec. 1305, pg. 145). Brandon also testified that his friend Chad Smith, who was there that night, drove over in a gold colored pickup truck, that was newer but looked a lot like Doug Young's truck. (Rec. 1305, pg. 146).

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