2007

Leigh Young aka Hardy v. Fire Insurance Exchange : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant maintains that the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment dismissing the bad faith claim and the Directed Verdict were properly granted. Plaintiff's brief advanced nine arguments addressing these two issues. Because of the duplicity of Plaintiff's arguments, Defendant consolidated these arguments into three issues, bad faith, the directed verdict, and expert testimony.

Bad Faith: First, with respect to the grant of the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Plaintiff failed to identify this as an issue that was being appealed from in the Notice of Appeal. Because the purpose of the Notice of Appeal is to provide Defendant notice of specifically which judgment is being appealed from, the failure to do so renders the Notice of Appeal defective as to this issue. As such, the Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this issue.

Assuming that the Court finds the Notice of Appeal sufficient, then it is Defendant's position that the grant of the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment dismissing the bad faith claim was still appropriate. Defendant's claims adjuster and SIU personnel conducted extensive investigations. Those investigations support Defendant's position that this claim is "fairly debatable." Specifically, Defendant's investigation revealed that: (1) the home was in terrible condition and would have, in all likelihood, been closed to occupancy; (2) because of the condition of the home, Breigh Hardy could be taken into protective custody; (3) Plaintiff had no

financial means to remedy the condition of the home; (4) Plaintiff and her ex-husband had various outstanding liens, medical bills and judgments against them; (5) Mr. Weinheimer of the board of health made various attempts to meet with Plaintiff to discuss the condition of the home, with the meeting coincidentally taking place on July 26, 2001, the day of the fire; (6) nobody was home at the time of the fire; (7) the dogs which were usually kept in the garage were outside at the time of the fire; (8) Plaintiff told Scott Beebe she was at the home in the early morning hours of July 26, 2001, the day of the fire; (9) a witness, Steve Johnson, placed Plaintiff's vehicle at the home in the early morning hours of July 26, 2001, the day of the fire; (10) Sandy City Fire Marshall Richard Lyman, Detective Berhow and Defendant's cause and origin expert, John Blundell, all concluded that the fire was intentionally set and that an accelerant had been used; (11) Detective Berhow had information from two informants that Plaintiff and Doug Young stated they had set the fire and that law enforcement would never be able to prove this; (12) Doug Young, who is a career criminal, and Plaintiff's sons, Tim Hardy and David Elliott, who also have criminal records, all had access and the means to commit arson; and (13) Plaintiff is claiming damages to the home of approximately \$78,000 over the amount owed on the home.

Finally, in addition to the Sandy City Fire Marshall, both of the experts retained by Defendant, Jay Freeman and John Blundell, determined there was no accidental cause for the fire and it was intentionally set. Clearly then, the above gives rise to legitimate factual issues regarding the validity of this claim. As such, Plaintiff's claim is "fairly debatable" as a matter of law, and partial summary judgment dismissing the claim for bad faith was appropriately granted and should be affirmed.

Directed Verdict: The court correctly ruled when it determined that Plaintiff had the burden of proving that she was wrongfully denied coverage by showing the fire was accidentally set. It is not until Plaintiff meets this burden that it shifts to Defendant to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Plaintiff intentionally set the fire or it was set at her direction. *Metric Const. Co. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 2005 WL 2100939 (D.Utah 2005); *Home Sav. and Loan v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co.*, 817 P.2d 341, 371 fn 7 (Utah App. 1991); *Horrell v. Utah Farm Bureau Ins. Co.*, 909 P.2d 1279 (Utah App. 1996); *LDS Hosp. a Div. of Intermountain Health Care, Inc. v. Capitol Life Ins. Co.*, 765 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1988).

Further, the court also ordered that for Plaintiff to meet this burden of showing the fire was accidentally set, it necessitated calling an expert witness, which Plaintiff failed to do. As such, she failed to sustain her burden of proof. Thus, the burden did not shift to Defendant to prove that the fire was intentionally set, and the Directed Verdict was appropriately granted.

Clearly, “expert testimony is needed when the causative factors created by a breach of legal duty are outside the realm of common knowledge and experience of laypersons.” *King v. Searle Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 832 P.2d 858, 862 (Utah 1992). In this instance, it is undisputed that to perform a cause and origin investigation, which would include looking at burn patterns, the presence of accelerants, and determining the point of origin, is not within the province of laypersons. Having failed to offer expert testimony, the trial court appropriately found that Plaintiff failed to meet her burden of proof.

Plaintiff also took issue with the appropriate time to make a motion for a directed verdict, arguing that it was not appropriate for Defendant to make this motion at the close of its case and that, by doing so, Defendant somehow waived the right to a directed verdict. First, it was at the

trial court's request that Defendant was told to put on its witnesses while waiting for Plaintiff's expert witness, Fred King. At the time Defendant made its Motion for Directed Verdict, it argued that Mr. King was designated as a rebuttal witness and, as such, he should not be allowed to testify in Plaintiff's "case-in-chief." The trial court ruled in Defendant's favor, finding Mr. King was in fact a rebuttal witness and, as such, could not testify in Plaintiff's "case in chief." Once that finding was made, Plaintiff had no further witnesses. As such, Plaintiff's case was rested and Defendant appropriately made its Motion for Directed Verdict and, further, did not waive the right to do so.

Finally, when the trial court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict, it mistakenly referred to Rule 41(b). However, that was corrected on the actual Judgment on Directed Verdict, which reflects that the Directed Verdict was granted pursuant to Rule 50(a).

Rebuttal Witness: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in not allowing Mr. King to testify in Plaintiff's "case-in-chief." It is undisputed that Mr. King was designated as a rebuttal witness. This was not only admitted by Mr. Call the first day of trial, but he actually wrote it on a sheet of paper which he submitted to the trial court at its request. To allow Mr. King to testify in Plaintiff's "case-in-chief" is highly prejudicial. This is because Defendant was prepared to cross-examine Plaintiff's expert as a rebuttal witness, not as to cause and origin. As such, the trial court properly excluded Plaintiff from allowing her rebuttal witness to testify in her "case-in-chief."

Noteworthy, Plaintiff failed to proffer Mr. King's testimony as required by Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 103. Therefore, the Court is unable to determine whether an error has affected the substantial rights or was prejudicial to Plaintiff. As such, there is no basis to reverse the judgment. *Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakney Corp.*, 578 P.2d 1286, 1287 (Utah 1978).

Finally, the trial court ruled correctly in excluding Plaintiff's rebuttal witness' testimony at the close of Defendant's case. This is because once the court ruled on the Directed Verdict, finding Plaintiff had not sustained her burden of proving that the fire was accidentally set, there was no need for rebuttal testimony. Therefore, the Directed Verdict was appropriately granted and rebuttal testimony was unnecessary.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

BECAUSE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO DESIGNATE APPEAL FROM THE GRANT OF PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSING THE BAD FAITH CLAIM, THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS ARGUMENT

The Notice of Appeal filed by Plaintiff shows her intention to appeal from the trial court's grant of the Motion for Directed Verdict in favor of Defendant and the denial of Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial, but not the grant of Partial Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant dismissing the bad faith claim. As such, the Notice of Appeal, as to the bad faith claim, is defective.

The Utah Supreme Court addressed this issue in *Jensen v. Intermountain Power Agency*, 977 P.2d 474 (Utah 1999), a procedurally similar case. In *Jensen*, the trial court granted a partial summary judgment motion in defendant's favor, dismissing plaintiff's easement and water rights claims. The trial court conducted a jury trial on the remaining issue regarding flooding. The jury returned a verdict in favor of defendant, finding no negligence. Plaintiff moved for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial. Both motions were denied and a final judgment was entered on August 10, 1995. Plaintiff then appealed.

The notice of appeal did not state that plaintiff was appealing from the grant of defendant's motion for partial summary judgment on the easement and water rights claims. As

such, defendant moved for summary disposition or, alternatively, to limit the scope of the appeal, arguing that the court did not have jurisdiction to review the partial summary judgment because plaintiff did not appeal from the judgment finalizing it.

Referring to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 3(d), the Utah Supreme Court noted that: “[t]he notice of appeal shall . . . designate the judgment or order, or part thereof, appealed from.” The Supreme Court further held that Rule 3(d)’s requirement is jurisdictional. *Id.* 476. In reaching this conclusion, the court emphasized that “the object of a notice of appeal is to advise the opposite party that an appeal has been taken from a specific judgment in a specific case. [Defendant] is entitled to know specifically which judgment is being appealed.” *Id.* 476.

The court found in favor of defendant, noting that plaintiff’s Motion for a New Trial addressed only those claims that went to the jury, it did not include the easement and water rights claims that were addressed on partial summary judgment. The court also noted that defendant was prejudiced by plaintiff’s failure to identify the appeal from the partial summary judgment motion. The court found the notice of appeal defective and that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the issue.

In the present case, there is no relationship between the dismissal of the bad faith claim on partial summary judgment and the Directed Verdict granted on the breach of contract claim, such that Defendant was on notice that the bad faith claim was also being appealed. The Notice of Appeal identifies appeal from the Directed Verdict and denial of the Motion for a New Trial, neither of which address the bad faith claim. Thus, the Notice of Appeal is defective as to the bad faith claim and this Court lacks jurisdiction to review this claim. This is the case even if the

failure to identify appeal from the bad faith partial summary judgment did not prejudice Defendant.

A. **If the Notice of Appeal Was Sufficient, Dismissal of Plaintiff's Claim for Bad Faith on Partial Summary Judgment Is Still Appropriate**⁴ (Plaintiff's Argument I)

The parties to any contract have parallel obligations to perform their contractual obligations in good faith. *Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 701 P.2d 795, 801 (Utah 1985). More specifically, the Utah Supreme Court explained the obligations of an insurer in a first-party context as follows:

[T]he implied obligation of good faith performance contemplates, at the very least, that the insurer will diligently investigate the facts to enable it to determine whether a claim is valid, will fairly evaluate the claim, and will thereafter act promptly and reasonably in rejecting or settling the claim. *Id.* at 801.

See also Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co., 745 P.2d 838, 842 (Utah App. 1987); *Prince v. Bear River Mut. Ins. Co.*, 56 P.3d 524, 535 (Utah 2002); and *Billings v. Union Bankers Ins. Co.*, 918 P.2d 461, 465 (Utah 1996). It follows then, "if an insurer acts reasonably in denying a claim, then the insurer did not contravene the covenant." *Prince, Id.* 533.

As a matter of law, it is well established in Utah, "[i]f a claim brought by an insured against an insurer is fairly debatable, ***failure to comply with the insured's demands cannot form the***

⁴ Plaintiff's brief, Argument Point I, fails to comply with Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 24(a)(9), which requires that the argument in the brief ". . . shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on." Plaintiff has failed to cite to the record to support her position that partial summary judgment on the bad faith claim was wrongfully granted. As such, Plaintiff leaves it for this court to do so. Because Plaintiff has inadequately briefed this argument, it should be stricken. *MacKay v. Hardy*, 973 P.2d 941, 947 (Utah 1998); *Beehive Telephone Company v. Public Service Commission of Utah*, 89 P.3d 131 (Utah 2004); *Burns v. Summerhays*, 927 P.2d 197 (Utah App. 1996).

basis of bad faith.” *Saleh v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 133 P.3d 428 (Utah 2006) (emphasis added). See also *Prince, supra* and *Callioux, supra*. Where a claim is fairly debatable, “the insurer is entitled to debate it and cannot be held to have breached the implied covenant if it chooses to do so.” *Prince, Id.* 533-534.

Further, “if the evidence presented creates a factual issue as to the claim’s validity, there exists a debatable reason for denial, . . . eliminating the bad faith claim A ‘debatable reason,’ for purposes of determining whether a first party insurer may be subjected to bad faith liability, means an arguable reason, a reason that is open to dispute or question.” *Prince, Id.* 535. (Internal citations and quotation marks omitted.)

In *Callioux, supra*, a factually similar case, Progressive’s insured filed a claim for the loss of his vehicle as the result of a fire. Progressive hired an arson expert to investigate the claim, who concluded that the loss was of incendiary origin, occurring by or at the direction of the insured. Based on this, Progressive denied the claim. Progressive then reported its findings to the state fire marshall, who also determined it to be of incendiary origin. The fire marshall reported his findings to the Sevier County Attorney. Based on the state fire marshall’s report and an independent investigation by the Sevier County Attorney’s office, the insured was charged with arson and attempted insurance fraud. Ultimately, the insured was acquitted of these charges and the insurer paid the claim. Following the insured’s acquittal, the insured filed a bad faith action against Progressive. Progressive filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that the insured’s claim was “fairly debatable” and, as such, there is no bad faith. Plaintiff’s motion was granted. On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals determined that:

If the evidence presented creates a factual issue as to the claim's validity, there exists a debatable reason for denial, thereby legitimizing the denial of the claim, and eliminating the bad faith claim. "When a claim is fairly debatable, the insurer is entitled to debate it, whether the debate concerns a matter of fact or law." *Id.* 842.

In *Prince, supra*, the claimant was involved in an automobile accident for which he sought PIP benefits. After several weeks of treatment, the claimant submitted to an independent medical evaluation, and it was determined by this physician that further medical treatment was not necessary. As such, further claims for PIP benefits were denied. Because of this denial, the claimant filed a claim for breach of contract, bad faith, and assorted other causes of action. The insurer then filed for summary judgment maintaining that, based on the report of the independent medical physician, further PIP benefits were neither reasonable nor necessary, the standard used to determine whether to continue paying PIP benefits. Summary judgment was granted and the Utah Supreme Court affirmed that the insurer's reliance on the opinion of an expert medical doctor that further medical care was unnecessary creating "a legitimate factual question regarding the validity of the insured's claim for benefits, making the insured's claim fairly debatable." *Id.* 535. As such, the denial of benefits did not constitute a "breach [of] the covenant of good faith and fair dealing as a matter of law." *Id.*

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